RECEIVED

Feb 09 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SAMMY ROWDY PARKER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-002186

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MOLLY M. KEEGAN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred by denying appellant time served credit for the entire time that he spent in jail awaiting trial and sentencing, due to the commission of a subsequent crime while on bond, because S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40, as amended, violated appellant's due process rights and the separation of powers doctrine and resulted in 162 days served but not credited?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant pled guilty to trafficking in methamphetamine (10 grams or more), second offense, trafficking methamphetamine (28 grams or more), second offense, distribution of methamphetamine, third offense, receiving stolen goods, third or subsequent property crime, and failure to stop for a blue light during the December 2024 term of York County General Sessions before the Honorable Judge Alex Kinlaw, Jr. Appellant was represented by Mark McKinnon at the plea proceeding. Marina Hamilton represented the state. Judge Kinlaw sentenced appellant to a total imprisonment term of 13 years with 307 days of time served credit.

The notice of appeal and letter containing the time served credit issue as the ground for appeal per Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR, were both timely filed.

This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only.” *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 591, 828 S.E.2d 203, 209 (2019) (citing *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law.” *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

A statute is presumed constitutional, and the validity will be upheld, unless its repugnance to the constitution is clear beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. McSwain*, 445 S.C. 276, 282-83, 914 S.E.2d 124, 127 (2025). This general presumption of validity can be overcome only by a clear showing the act violates some provision of the constitution. *Doe v State*, 421 S.C. 490, 501, 808 S.E.2d 807, 813 (2017).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by denying appellant time served credit for the entire time that he spent in jail awaiting trial and sentencing, due to the commission of a subsequent crime while on bond, because S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3) violated appellant's substantive due process rights and the separation of powers doctrine, resulting in 162 days served but not credited.

Relevant Facts

During the March 23, 2023 term, the York County grand jury indicted appellant for trafficking methamphetamine, in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(C), on or about September 21, 2022. R. 20-29. Appellant served pretrial detention, while awaiting trial and sentencing, until he posted bond on July 27, 2023. While on bond, appellant was arrested for trafficking methamphetamine, in violation of § 44-53-375(C), on or about February 28, 2024, and distribution of methamphetamine, in violation of § 44-53-375(B), on or about February 21, 2024. R. 20-29. He served pretrial detention until he posted bond on April 25, 2024. Appellant was then arrested for receiving stolen goods, third or subsequent property crime, in violation of § 16-13-0180(A), 16-1-57, and failure to stop for a blue light, in violation of § 56-05-0750(B)(1), on or about June 30, 2024. R. 20-29. From approximately June 30, 2024 to September 3, 2024, appellant served pretrial detention for an arrest in North Carolina. He was returned to South Carolina, and a bond was set on September 6, 2024.

Appellant remained in pretrial detention until his plea and sentencing hearing on December 18, 2024. R. 1. During his plea hearing, appellant pled guilty to each offense, and the court accepted his pleas as freely and voluntarily entered. R. 3, l. 1 – 11, l. 7. As to appellant's time served credit, the state provided that he had credit for 307 days but argued that under the new bond law he was not entitled to credit for any time past his subsequent arrest and bonding out. R. 11, ll.

13-17. Defense counsel argued that he had 308 days as to the first arrest, 56 days as to the second arrest, and 105 days as to the third arrest, for a total of 469 days. R. 11, ll. 19-21. Appellant objected “to Your Honor not giving him all the credit based on it being unconstitutional . . . to keep the Court from being able to give someone jail for time they’ve actually served incarcerated.” R. 11, l. 23 – 12, l. 2. The court responded that it had “heard that argument so many times,” and invited defense counsel to “challenge it.” R. 12, ll. 3-6. The court stated that counsel knew “what I’m going to do,” but reiterated that he should “challenge it and let those people who check my homework take a look at it.” R. 12, ll. 9-13. The court imposed the negotiated 13-year total sentence and noted 307 days of time served credit. R. 13, l. 16 – 14, l. 19. Defense counsel renewed his objection to the time served credit. R. 14, l. 24 – 15, l. 2.

Appellant served his notice of appeal. R. 17. Pursuant to Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR, plea counsel filed an explanation of the ground to appeal, which he listed as follows: “[W]hether the trial court erred in limiting the Defendant’s time served credit to the time spent in pretrial detention to his first arrest, on or about 9-21-2022. He was subsequently arrested on 2-28-2024, then again on 6-30-2024.” R. 19. Counsel explained that he objected to the court’s decision believing that § 24-13-40(3), as amended, was unconstitutional. R. 19. In his Rule 203(B) explanation, counsel argued that the denial of “credit for time actually spent incarcerated in jail, is cruel and unusual punishment, and denies that inmate due process.” R. 19. He continued that the legislature’s attempt to remove a judge’s sentencing discretion violated the separation of powers. R. 19.

Discussion

In this case, appellant was denied 162 days of time served credit pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3) (Supp. 2023) because he committed subsequent crimes while on bond. R. 10-13. The legislature’s directive to deny credit on that basis is unconstitutional and violated appellant’s substantive due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the doctrine of separation of powers. The trial judge thus erred by failing to give appellant credit for the time he spent in jail awaiting trial and sentencing following his subsequent arrests, which resulted in 162 days spent incarcerated uncredited to any conviction.

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40, in every case in which time served by a prisoner is computed,

[F]ull credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing, and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest. Provided, however, that credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given: (1) when the prisoner at the time he was imprisoned prior to trial was an escapee from another penal institution; or (2) when the prisoner is serving a sentence for one offense and is awaiting trial and sentence for a second offense in which case he shall not receive credit for time served prior to trial in a reduction of his sentence for the second offense; (3) *when the prisoner commits a subsequent crime while out on bond*; or (4) has bond revoked on any charge prior to trial or plea.

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (emphasis added).

a. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3) is unconstitutional because it violates appellant’s substantive due process rights

“The line between facial and as-applied relief is [a] fluid one, any many constitutional challenges may occupy an intermediate position on the spectrum between purely as-applied relief and complete facial invalidation.” *State v. German*, 439 S.C. 449, 466, 887 S.E.2d 912, 920 (2023) (citing *Doe v. State*, 421 S.C. 490, 502, 808 S.E.2d 807, 813 (2017)). A facial challenge claims

that a law is invalid “*in toto*—and therefore incapable of any valid application,” and thus, “a plaintiff must establish that a law is unconstitutional in all of its applications.” *Id.* (quotations omitted). An as-applied challenge requires that the “party challenging the constitutionality of the statute claims that the application of the statute in the particular context in which he has acted, or in which he proposes to act, would be unconstitutional.” *Id.* (quotations omitted).

The Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution provides, “No State shall ... deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law . . .” U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. Similarly, the due process clause of the South Carolina Constitution provides that no person “shall . . . be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 3. The clause provides both procedural and substantive due process protections. The substantive component ensures that, regardless of the fairness of the procedures used, the government's reasons for depriving a person of a protected life, liberty, or property interest are not arbitrary and have, at a minimum, a rational relationship to a legitimate governmental purpose. *Planned Parenthood S. Atl. v. State*, 438 S.C. 188, 250, 882 S.E.2d 770, 803 (2023).

The first step in a substantive due process analysis is to determine what level of scrutiny should be applied. *In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. 122, 140, 568 S.E.2d 338, 346-47 (2002). The level of scrutiny to apply is determined by the nature of the rights infringed by the statute. A statute that infringes a fundamental right must satisfy strict scrutiny. *Id.* at 140-41. Strict scrutiny requires a statute to be narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling state interest. *Id.* If a fundamental right is not implicated, then the rational basis test is applied. *Id.* Specifically, it is only required that the act be reasonably designed to accomplish the legislative purpose. *State v. McSwain*, 445 S.C. 276, 283-84, 914 S.E.2d 124, 127-28 (2025). Under either analysis, the one

who attacks the law bears the burden of showing it is unconstitutional. *Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. at 140, 568 S.E.2d at 347.

As a threshold matter, § 24-13-40(3) is unconstitutional facially and as-applied to appellant. Since the statute deprives any person credit for the time that they have spent incarcerated pending trial and sentencing due to the commission of a subsequent crime while on bond, there is no valid application of the statute. *German*, 439 S.C. at 466, 887 S.E.2d at 920. Likewise, the statute is unconstitutional as-applied because application of the statute to appellant resulted in the service of 162 days in jail while awaiting trial and sentencing and barred him from receiving credit for the time that he spent incarcerated. *Id.*

Further, substantive due process requires § 24-13-40(3) be narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling state interest because it infringes upon a constitutional liberty interest. *See Tant v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 408 S.C. 334, 341, 759 S.E.2d 398, 401 (2014) (stating that “[t]here can be no doubt the length of an inmate’s incarceration implicates a constitutional liberty interest.”); *see also State v. Binnarr*, 400 S.C. 156, 165, 733 S.E.2d 890, 895 (2012) (explaining that freedom from bodily restraint “has always been at the core of the liberty protected by the Due Process Clause from arbitrary governmental actions.”). Notably, the General Assembly does not expressly provide its purpose for restricting time served credit based on a subsequent arrest while on bond, although it does provide a general directive to award full credit for any time spent in jail prior to trial or sentencing unless an exception applies. *See generally* S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40. While it may be inferred that the legislative purpose is to deter the commission of crimes while on bond, the General Assembly provides neither preamble nor prefatory language to enshrine such intent. *See id.* To that end, the General Assembly has not articulated a purpose to burden the fundamental right to liberty and has not crafted a statute narrowly tailored to further the inferred

goal of deterrence of reoffending while on bond. *Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. at 140, 568 S.E.2d at 347; *see also United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739, 750-51, 107 S. Ct. 2095 (1987) (explaining that although the importance and fundamental nature of an individual's liberty interest cannot be minimized, the right may, where the government's interest is sufficiently weighty, be subordinated by the greater needs of society). Moreover, the denial of credit for time spent in pretrial detention due to a subsequent arrest does not serve the state's interest because other avenues exist to deter reoffending while on bond that are less restrictive, and thus, the statute is not narrowly tailored, and the denial of credit is an arbitrary restriction.

In addition, while every jurisdiction in the United States awards time served credit for time spent in pretrial detention, no other state harshly limits credit for time served based on a subsequent arrest committed while on bond nor does the federal government.¹ Accordingly, South Carolina stands alone in burdening the liberty interest of an incarcerated individual by denying time served credit due to a subsequent arrest while on bond with no articulated purpose or interest in such a deprivation.

Even further, the limitation on time served in § 24-13-40(3) differs from the denial of time served due to an individual's status as an escapee. *Compare* § 24-13-40(3), *with* § 24-13-40(1). The South Carolina Supreme Court and several other states have ruled that an escapee cannot be credited with time served in another jurisdiction on a subsequent crime. *Delahoussaye v. State*,

¹ *See* 18 U.S.C. § 3585(b), providing that "A defendant shall be given credit toward the service of a term of imprisonment for any time he has spent in official detention prior to the date the sentence commences (1) as a result of the offense for which the sentence was imposed; or (2) as a result of any other charge for which the defendant was arrested after the commission of the offense for which the sentence was imposed; that has not been credited against another sentence." *See also* Kimberly Kessler Ferzan, *The Trouble with Time Served*, 48 *BYU L. Rev.* 2001, 2005-06 (2023) (explaining that every state provides credit for time served and citing to each state's authority granting an award of time served credit).

369 S.C. 522, 529, 633 S.E.2d 158, 162 (2006) (explaining that “[i]t would be a novel rule which would allow a *sentenced* criminal, by the simple expedient of escape, to select the state in which he wishes to serve his incarceration”) (emphasis added). Denial of time served credit due to escapee status is distinguishable because it ordinarily contemplates time served in another jurisdiction after the imposition of a South Carolina sentence, whereas the denial of time served due to a subsequent arrest on bond concerns time spent in jail before the imposition of a sentence. Similarly, the South Carolina Supreme Court has explained that when an appellant’s entire absence was due to his escape and resistance to the efforts of the State of South Carolina to affect his return, he is not entitled to credit for any time spent as an escapee. *Kephart v. State*, 277 S.C. 395, 396, 289 SE.2d 402 (1982). Particularly, unlike *Kephart*, concerning the 162 days of denied time served, the appellant was returned to pretrial detention, after his subsequent arrests rather than remaining absent due to escapee status. *Compare Kephart*, 277 S.C. at 396, 289 SE.2d at 402, with S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3).² Moreover, the 162 days of credit that appellant was denied relates to time spent exclusively in South Carolina detention awaiting trial and sentencing.

Even assuming that the statute does not implicate a fundamental right and is subject to rational-basis review, it is likewise not reasonably designed to accomplish the legislative purpose. *McSwain*, 445 S.C. at 283-84, 914 S.E.2d at 124. There is no rational basis to further restrict appellant’s liberty by denying him credit for time actually served when a subsequent arrest while on bond already triggers detention and serves as a deterrent. *See Hawkins v. Freeman*, 195 F.3d 732, 748 (4th Cir. 1999) (explaining that “[g]iven the obvious state interests involved in

² It should be noted that from approximately June 30, 2024, to September 3, 2024, appellant was detained in Mecklenburg County and was returned to South Carolina after service of a Governor’s warrant. Appellant did not receive any time served credit for the period of time he spent detained in North Carolina.

reimprisoning any erroneously released convict, legislation requiring it” survives rational basis review) (internal citations omitted). Nor is the state’s interest in deterrence undermined by receiving credit for time served because a subsequent arrest on bond can still be addressed through re-incarceration pending trial or bond revocation, which sufficiently serves as a deterrent for reoffending while on bond. Further, in *McSwain*, the South Carolina Supreme Court determined that the challenged amended portions of South Carolina’s Sex Offender Registry Act (“SORA”) were rationally related to SORA’s legislative purpose and highlighted that SORA mirrored the federal registry and the majority of states enacted identical or similar tiered systems for removal from the registry. 445 S.C at 285-86, 914 S.E.2d at 129. Notably, the denial of time served credit at issue is distinguishable because it is absent from the federal statute and no other state imposes such a restriction. Therefore, the added liberty restriction of denying credit for the time spent in pretrial detention on a subsequent arrest is arbitrary and has no rational relationship to a legitimate governmental purpose. *Planned Parenthood S. Atl.*, 438 S.C. at 250, 882 S.E.2d at 803.

In sum, the General Assembly has not articulated a purpose, much less shown a compelling interest, for denying time served credit based on a subsequent arrest while on bond and § 24-13-40(3) is not narrowly tailored to achieve its inferred purpose of deterrence because it is not crafted to further the goal of deterrence and arbitrarily deprives appellant of his liberty.

b. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3) is unconstitutional because it violates the separation of powers doctrine

“In the government of this State, the legislative, executive, and judicial powers of the government shall be forever separate and distinct from each other, and no person or persons exercising the functions of one of said departments shall assume or discharge the duties of any other.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 8. Further, the “separation of governmental powers into three

coordinate Branches is essential to the preservation of liberty.” *Mistretta v. United States*, 488 U.S. 361, 380, 109 S. Ct. 647, 659 (1989).

The imposition of sentences is a judicial function. *See generally State v. De La Cruz*, 302 S.C. 13, 393 S.E. 2d 184 (1990). However, the penalty for a particular offense, except in rare cases, is a matter of legislative prerogative and the legislature’s judgment will not be disturbed. *Id.* at 15 (citing *State v. Smith*, 275 S.C. 164, 167, 268 S.E.2d 276, 277 (1980)). “Judicial discretion in sentencing, suspending sentences, and in designating that sentences run concurrent or consecutive is subject to statutory restriction.” *Id.* at 15 (citing *Mistretta*, 488 U.S. at 361, 109 S. Ct. at 647).

In *State v. De La Cruz*, the appellant challenged the constitutionality of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(e)(2) as a violation of the separation of powers because the mandatory term of 25 years’ imprisonment, no part of which could be suspended, set forth by the legislature impermissibly intruded into inherent judicial powers by removing all judicial sentencing discretion. 302 S.C. at 15, 393 S.E.2d at 185-86. The South Carolina Supreme Court held that the legislature had the ability to limit judicial discretion as it did, whatever the legislature’s reasons were. *Id.* at 16.

Here, the amended provision of § 24-13-40 violates the doctrine of separation of powers. Generally, the plea court has wide discretion in determining what sentence may be imposed. *State v. Franklin*, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976). However, the statute at issue removes judicial sentencing discretion by denying credit for time served based on a subsequent arrest, and, in effect, instead allows the legislature to impose a sentence. In addition, the statute is distinguishable from the types of limits on judicial discretion that have been found to be within the legislature’s ability. *De La Cruz*, 302 S.C. at 15-16, 393 S.E. 2d at 185-86; *Mistretta*, 488 U.S.

at 361, 109 S. Ct. at 647. Specifically, the computation of time served contemplates time already spent in jail prior to the imposition of a sentence whereas suspending a sentence, imposing a concurrent or consecutive sentence, or imposing a mandatory sentence set by the legislature contemplate time that will be spent in prison after the court imposes its sentence. Moreover, while the penalty for an offense is generally a matter of legislative prerogative, the denial of the time served credit at issue refers to the computation of a sentence itself which is unlike a mandatory penalty, imposed by statute, for a particular offense, and instead functions like the imposition of a sentence. *See De La Cruz*, 302 S.C. at 15, 393 S.E. 2d at 185-86; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40.

Therefore, because the amended statute enacts a blanket denial of time served credit for time spent in jail if a subsequent crime is committed while on bond encroaches on the judiciary's sentencing function and allows the legislature to impose a sentence, the denial of time served set out by the legislature violates the separation of powers doctrine, which is essential to the preservation of liberty. S.C. Const. art. I, § 8; *Mistretta*, 488 U.S. at 380, 109 S. Ct. at 659.

CONCLUSION

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