STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jan 28 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-002186

The State,Respondent,

v.

Sammy Rowdy Parker,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit
1675 York Highway
York, South Carolina 29745
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's argument that the trial court's denial—in compliance with section 24-13-40 of the South Carolina Code—of time-served credit for the *entire* time he spent in jail awaiting trial and sentencing violated his substantive due process rights and the separation of powers doctrine, is not preserved for appellate review because it was not sufficiently raised to or ruled upon by the circuit court. In any event, because: (1) the plea court sentenced Appellant within statutory limits for his crimes and (2) Appellant does not have a fundamental right to credit for presentence jail time where it is not part of the punishment imposed, the statutory denial of the desired credit did not implicate substantive due process and did not violate the doctrine of separation of powers.

Appellant argues the trial court erred by denying him, due to his commission of subsequent crimes while on bond, time served credit for the entire time that he spent in jail awaiting trial and sentencing because S.C. Code § 24-13-40(3) violated his substantive due process rights and the separation of powers doctrine, resulting in **162 days** served but not credited. (Brief of Appellant, p.4-p.13). In regard to substantive due process, Appellant contends the statute is facially invalid because there can be no valid application where it is not narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling state interest and where it infringes upon a constitutional liberty interest—freedom from incarceration. He further contends that even if not facially invalid, the statute is nevertheless “unconstitutional as applied” because application to him resulted in barring his receipt of credit for 162 of the days he spent in jail while awaiting trial and sentencing. In regard to separation of powers, Appellant contends the imposition of sentences is a judicial function and that where the statute at issue removes judicial sentencing discretion by denying credit for time served based on a subsequent arrest, it unconstitutionally allows the legislature to impose a sentence. (Brief of Appellant, p.4-p.13). The State disagrees

and submits Appellant's argument, and his associated sub-arguments, should be denied and dismissed on several grounds.

A. Issue Not Preserved for Appeal

First and foremost, the argument raised in Appellant's brief is not preserved for appellate review because it was not adequately raised to and ruled upon by the lower court. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the Appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court *with sufficient specificity*. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

This issue preservation requirement applies to assertions of constitutional violations. *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421, 432, 735 S.E.2d 471, 477 (2012); *State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 584, 611 S.E.2d 273, 282 (Ct. App. 2005). Indeed, our courts have consistently held that a constitutional claim must be raised and ruled upon to be preserved for appellate review. *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 552, 564 S.E.2d 87, 91 (2002); *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001); *Hoffman v. Powell*, 298 S.C. 338, 380 S.E.2d 821 (1989). "A bald assertion, without supporting argument, does not preserve an issue for appeal." *McCracken* at 92, 551 S.E.2d at 235.

Here, Counsel said he: "would be objecting to Your Honor not giving [Appellant] all that credit based on it being unconstitutional in my view to keep the Court from being able to give someone jail for time they've actually served incarcerated," but Counsel never articulated *how* or *why* the statute was allegedly unconstitutional "in his view." He certainly did not mention

substantive due process or separation of powers. (R.p.11, line 19-p.12, line 2). Even though the plea judge noted he had “heard that argument so many times” and invited a challenge to his stated intent to deny credit under the terms of the statute, the court *also* failed to reference due process or separation of powers. (R.p.12, lines 3-21). Even at the end of the plea, when Counsel ostensibly renewed his objection, he merely stated: “And, Your Honor, one more time, I’m objecting to time served credit.” Once again, Counsel did not claim any violation of substantive due process or separation of powers. (R.p.14, lines 24-25). Thus, regardless of whether there is any merit to the questions of whether the statute at issue violates substantive due process or separation of powers (which the State strongly contends it does not), Appellant was obligated to specifically bring that issue and his arguments to the attention of Judge Kinlaw before or during the plea proceeding and to obtain a ruling. Because Appellant failed to do so, this entire issue should not be addressed on appeal and the lower court’s order should simply be affirmed without further discussion.²

B. Issue is Without Merit

If this Court determines Appellant’s argument was both sufficiently specific to be preserved for appellate review *and* not waived pursuant to his free and voluntary guilty plea, it is nevertheless without merit because: (1) the plea judge acted well within his discretion by

² Arguably, Appellant’s argument is also unpreserved because Appellant affirmatively waived all constitutional rights as part of his guilty plea. South Carolina does not recognize conditional guilty pleas. *State v. Rice*, 401 S.C. 330, 331, 737 S.E.2d 485, 485 (2013); *State v. Truesdale*, 278 S.C. 368, 370, 296 S.E.2d 528, 529 (1982). Indeed, a guilty plea constitutes a waiver of non-jurisdictional defects and claims of violations of constitutional rights. *Rice*, at 331-32, 737 S.E.2d at 485-86. Appellant’s attempt to challenge the denial of credit as a violation of his constitutional rights *after* he knowingly and voluntarily waived those rights and entered a guilty plea is akin to offering a conditional guilty plea. The State acknowledges sentencing is a separate issue from guilt and a distinct phase of the criminal process, *Easter v. State*, 355 S.C. 79, 81, 584 S.E.2d 117, 119 (2003); however, where Appellant’s challenge is based on an alleged constitutional violation that was triggered by his *pre-plea* decision to commit a new crime while out on bond, it is distinguishable from a mere *post-plea* challenge to the imposition of a sentence. *State v. Tucker*, 376 S.C. 412, 418, 656 S.E.2d 403, 406–07 (Ct.App.2008) (finding a defendant’s plea of guilty waived any challenge to his conviction based on an alleged pretrial violation of statutorily prescribed procedure).

sentencing Appellant within statutory limits and (2) Appellant did not have a fundamental right to credit for presentence jail time where presentence jail time is not part of the sentence imposed. Consequently, the statutory prohibition on awarding credit for presentence jail time did not infringe upon substantive due process and did not violate the doctrine of separation of powers.

1. Sentences were within Statutory Limits

A judge is allowed broad discretion in sentencing within statutory limits.” *Garrett v. State*, 320 S.C. 353, 356, 465 S.E.2d 349, 350 (1995). “Absent partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive, this Court lacks jurisdiction to disturb a sentence that is within the limit prescribed by statute.” *State v. Barton*, 325 S.C. 522, 531, 481 S.E.2d 439, 444 (Ct. App. 1997). When reviewing a sentencing issue on appeal, an appellate court will only interfere with a sentencing judge’s sentencing decisions in rare and unusual circumstances in light of the broad discretion afforded to sentencing judges on such matters. *State v. Ferguson*, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952); *see State v. Sidell*, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974) (“A broad discretion is allowed the trial judge in imposing sentence within the legal limits.”).

Here, each of the five sentences imposed by the plea court fell well below the statutory maximum sentence for its offense. As explained by the court during the plea proceeding, Appellant faced a sentencing exposure of: ten (10) to thirty (30) years for distribution of methamphetamine – third or subsequent offense [S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(B)(3)]; seven (7) to thirty (30) years for trafficking 28 grams or more of methamphetamine – second offense [S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(C)(2)(b)]; five (5) to thirty (30) years for trafficking 10 grams or more of methamphetamine – second offense [S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(C)(1)(b)]; zero (0) to ten (10) years for receiving stolen goods – third offense [S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-13-180(C)(1) & 16-1-57]; and zero (0) to three (3) years for failure to stop for a blue light [S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-

750(B)(1)]. (R.p.4-p.6). Even if 162 days of credit was added to each individual sentence imposed, the sentences would fall short of the maximum penalty that could have been imposed for each charge.

Although not without exception,³ where a trial court has imposed a sentence of less time than the maximum, courts have generally upheld the denial of credit based on the rebuttable or conclusive presumption that the trial court took the presentence jail time into consideration. 21 AM. JUR. 2D *Criminal Law* § 743 (2025); *See Durkin v. Davis*, 538 F.2d 1037, 1040 (4th Cir. 1976) (recognizing the right to credit for jail time awaiting trial on a bailable offense is sometimes constitutionally mandated, but also acknowledging the general limitation on any right to such credit where the sentence, when increased by that time, does not exceed the maximum sentence, because of the generally recognized presumption that the sentencing judge had given credit in his or her sentence to such jail time); *State v. Starr*, 521 P.2d 1126 (Ariz. 1974) (holding that when the actual sentence imposed plus the time in jail does not exceed the maximum sentence which could be imposed, it will be conclusively presumed that the sentencing court gave the defendant credit for all presentence time spent in jail). In this case, given: (1) the much lower-than-maximum sentences imposed, and (2) the plea court’s affirmative decision to award 307 days of presentence jail credit despite the prohibitive language in the statute, even on the four sentences for which the initial term of presentence jail time should *not* have applied,⁴ there

³ Certain authorities recognize a defendant’s right to presentence jail credit where the custody was due to the defendant’s financial inability to make bail, and a denial of credit would therefore be considered discriminatory. 21 AM. JUR. 2D *Criminal Law* § 743 (2025); *see e.g., Ange v. Paderick*, 521 F.2d 1066 (4th Cir. 1975).

⁴ The statute provides that: “In every *case* in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the *sentence* must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (emphasis added). Thus, even in a standard sentence calculation where none of the four disqualifying factors is present, the award of credit for each “sentence” imposed must be related to the “time served prior to trial and sentencing” on *that sentence*—not other sentences for which the defendant had not even yet been charged or arrested. *Cf. Blakeney v. State*, 339 S.C. 86, 529 S.E.2d 9 (2000) (holding that a defendant, who was jailed in another county on unrelated charges and had a “hold” placed on him for the current robbery charge, was entitled to credit for time served from

is simply no way the refusal to award an additional 162 days of credit could have infringed upon Appellant's right to substantive due process, or any other of Appellant's constitutional rights. Appellant has failed to demonstrate any rare and unusual circumstances that would warrant this Court interfering in the plea court's discretionary sentencing decision. Therefore, the plea court's credit ruling should be affirmed.

2. No Fundamental Right to Credit for Presentence Jail Time

Even if this Court finds the application of § 24-13-40 somehow presents rare and unusual circumstances, the plea court's actions to refuse to award an additional 162 days of credit in defiance of the statute did not implicate substantive due process. Both the United States and the South Carolina Constitutions provide that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law." U.S. Const. Amend. XIV, § 1, S.C. Const. art. I, § 3. Appellant's "substantive due process" claim relies upon a line of United States Supreme Court cases which interprets the Fourteenth Amendment's guarantee of "due process of law" to include a substantive component which forbids the government from infringing upon certain "fundamental" liberty interests at all, no matter what process is provided, unless the infringement is narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest. *Reno v. Flores*, 507 U.S. 292, 301 (1993). Thus, the due process clause protects individual liberty against "certain government actions regardless of the fairness of the procedures used to implement them." *Washington v. Glucksberg*, 521 U.S. 702, 719 (1997) (quoting *Daniels v. Williams*, 474 U.S. 327 (1986)); *United States v. Juvenile Male*, 670 F.3d 999, 1012 (9th Cir. 2012). Consequently, the first step in any substantive due process analysis is "to determine whether the claimed violation involves

the date on which sheriff's department issued the warrant for his arrest for the robbery). Whatever interest the statute may create in pretrial confinement credit does not extend to using them on a sentence that does not arise from the same act or arrest. *Cf. Wolff v. McDonald*, 418 U.S. 539, 556-57 (1974); *Bd. of Regents v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 577 (1972).

one of ‘those fundamental rights and liberties which are, objectively, deeply rooted in the Nation's history and tradition,’ and ‘implicit in the concept of ordered liberty,’ such that neither liberty nor justice would exist if they were sacrificed.” *Hawkins v. Freeman*, 195 F.3d 732 (4th Cir. 1999) (quoting *Glucksberg & Palko v. Connecticut* 302 U.S. 319 (1937) respectively). The next step depends for its nature upon the result of the first. *Id.* at 739. If the asserted interest has been determined to be “fundamental,” it is entitled in the second step to the protection of strict scrutiny judicial review of the challenged legislation. *Id.* at 739. If the interest is determined not to be “fundamental,” it is entitled only to the protection of rational-basis judicial review. *Id.*

“It has been traditionally held that *in the absence of an applicable statute to the contrary*, the defendant does not have a fundamental right to credit for time spent in custody prior to trial or sentence, the courts frequently reasoning that the confinement simply does not relate in any way to the subsequent punishment imposed.” 77 A.L.R. 3d 182 § 2 (1977 & Cum. Supp. 2025) (emphasis added). South Carolina is one of a number of states⁵ that long followed this tradition by noting, prior to the enactment of § 24-13-40, in the context of a challenge to the denial of credit as constituting cruel and unusual punishment, that: “In the absence of a statute requiring the trial judge to give a prisoner credit for the time spent in custody prior to trial, the rule appears

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